2006

Mountain West Surgical Center, LLC and  
Mountain West Medical Properties, LLC v.  
Hospital Corporation of Utah, dba Lakeview  
Hospital : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2- 2(3)(j).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court incorrectly concluded appellants' that the lis pendens filed by defendant cannot form the basis of an abuse of process claim as a matter of law. (Issue preserved at R. at 439-440, R. at 384-392, and R. at 252-270.) The trial court's conclusion is reviewed for correctness since it was reached on cross motions for summary judgment. *Arnold Indus., Inc., v. Love*, 2002 UT 133, ¶11, 63 P.3d 721.

2. Was the trial court wrong in concluding that the affidavit testimony of Richard Vincent failed to establish an ulterior motive or a willful act not proper in the regular course of proceedings? (Issue preserved at R. at 439-440, R. at 384-392, and R. at 252-270.) The trial court's factual findings are reviewed under the "clearly erroneous" standard. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a).

3. Did the trial court err in concluding that testimony from a lender or title company on the impact of the lis pendens was necessary to appellant's abuse of process claim? (Issue preserved R. at 439-440, R. at 384-392, and R. at 252-270.) The trial court's summary judgment rulings are reviewed for correctness. *Arnold Indus., Inc., v. Love*, 2002 UT 133, ¶11, 63 P.3d 721.

4. Did the trial court incorrectly conclude that the underlying lawsuit and lis pendens cannot form the basis of a tortious interference claim because both are privileged as a matter of law? (Issue preserved at R. at 439-440, R. at 384-392, and R. at 252-270.)

The trial court's summary judgment rulings are reviewed for correctness. *Arnold Indus., Inc. v. Love*, 2002 UT 133, ¶11, 63 P.3d 721.

5. Was the trial court wrong in concluding the facts appellant offered in support of its interference claim are insufficient as a matter of law. (Issue preserved R. at 439-440, R. at 384-392, and R. at 252-270.) The trial court's conclusions that the facts failed to meet the legal standard is reviewed for correctness. *Drake v. Industrial Commission of Utah*, 939 P.2d 177 (UT 1997).

6. Did the trial court err when it used Mountain West's failure to meet discovery deadlines as a basis for granting HCU's summary judgment motion? (Issue preserved R. at 439-440, R. at 384-392, and R. at 252-270.) The trial court's summary judgment rulings are reviewed for correctness. *Arnold Indus., Inc. v. Love*, 2002 UT 133, ¶11, 63 P.3d 721.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. Nature of the Case**

This is an appeal from an order granting appellee's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying the Motion for Summary Judgment of plaintiffs and appellants Mountain West Surgical Center LLC and Mountainwest Medical Properties LLC.

### **II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below**

On January 7, 2004, Mountain West Surgical Center and Mountainwest Medical Properties, LLC, (sometimes collectively referred to as "Mountain West" and other times individually referred to as "Mountain West Surgical" and "Mountainwest Properties") filed this lawsuit against Hospital Corporation of Utah, dba Lakeview Hospital ("HCU").

(R. at 1-7.) HCU responded by filing a Motion to Dismiss on March 24, 2004. (R. at 11-13.) The trial court denied the Motion to Dismiss by order dated June 11, 2004 (R. 54-55.) HCU then filed a Petition for Permission to Appeal Interlocutory Order with this Court. (R. at 56-174.) By order dated July 19, 2004, the Utah Court of Appeals denied the petition (R. at 182-184.) After Mountain West filed an Amended Complaint on August 3, 2004, HCU filed an answer to the Amended Complaint on August 20, 2004. (R. at 185-194 and 195-205.)

HCU filed a motion for summary judgment on Mountain West's abuse of process, anti-trust<sup>1</sup> and intentional interference with economic relations claims (R. at 249-251.) Mountain West opposed that motion and filed its own motion for partial summary judgment, seeking partial summary judgment on the abuse of process claim (R. at 252-308, 439-440.) Mountain West's motion was supported in part by the affidavits of Richard Vincent and George Bennett. (R. at 407-438 and 413-416.) HCU opposed Mountain West's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, moved to strike the Affidavit of Richard Vincent (R. at 462-482, 488-493) and filed a motion for Rule 56(f) relief. (R. at 479-480.) In conjunction with these motions, Mountain West also moved to amend the scheduling order to allow additional time to conduct limited discovery. (R. at 444-445.)

Following a hearing, the trial court granted HCU's Motion for Summary Judgment, denied Mountain West's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, denied Mountain West's Motion to Amend Scheduling Order and denied HCU's Motion to

---

<sup>1</sup> Mountain West voluntarily dismissed their anti-trust claim. (R. at 450-451 and 460-461.)



Strike the Affidavit of Richard Vincent. (R. at 338-339.) A copy of the Court's Order is included in the Addendum as Tab A<sup>2</sup>. Mountain West timely filed a notice of appeal. (R. at 519-520.)

### **III. Statement of Facts**

In 1999, Mountainwest Properties organized a joint venture with Mountain West Surgical and South Davis Community Hospital ("SDCH") for the construction and operation of a 47,000 square foot medical office building ("the Medical Center") on property owned by SDCH adjacent to Lakeview Hospital. (R. at 408.) The parties planned to lease 6,000 of the planned 47,000 square feet to Mountain West Surgical for a surgical center (the "Surgical Center"). (R. at 408.) The remaining space in the Medical Center was to be leased as office space to doctors who were members of Mountainwest Properties. (R. at 408.)

Under the planned joint venture, SDCH was to contribute a portion of its property to Mountainwest Properties in exchange for a membership interest in the company. (R. at 383 and 408.) SDCH did not have, and was never going to have, a membership interest in Mountain West Surgical. (R. at 383 and R. at 408.)

Throughout 1999, Mountainwest Properties worked towards the construction of the Medical Center. (R. at 383 and R. at 408.) It obtained building approval from Bountiful City to construct the Medical Center, paid architects and engineers hundreds of

---

<sup>2</sup> The trial court's record transferred to the Supreme Court did not include a copy of the final Order. Through separate motion, the parties are jointly moving the Court to supplement the Record to include the Order. A copy of the order is attached in the Addendum as Tab A.

thousands of dollars to prepare final plans and specifications, and received commitments for construction financing and long term financing for the Medical Center. (R. at 383 and R. at 409.) At the same time, HCU actively opposed construction of the Medical Center. (R. at 383 and R. at 409.) For example, it openly opposed Mountainwest Properties' efforts to obtain development approval from Bountiful City. (R. at 383 and R. at 409.)

When Mountainwest Properties obtained development approvals despite HCU's administrative efforts, HCU turned to the courts and filed a complaint against SDCH on January 10, 2000 (the "Lawsuit"). (R. at 384.) HCU alleged four separate causes of action against SDCH: (1) Breach of Contract; (2) Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; (3) Breach of Restrictive Covenant on the Use of Land; and (4) Declaratory Judgment. (R. at 384.) None of HCU's claims related to the type of structure that could be built on SDCH's property. (R. at 384.) In addition, none of the claims related to title or right to possession of the property. Rather, all claims related in one way or another to an alleged restriction on the activities that could take place in that structure. (R. at 384.)

By March of 2000, Mountainwest Properties had obtained a final commitment from its construction lender, and intended to begin construction on the Medical Center during the first week of March. (R. at 384 and R. at 409.) SDCH was prepared to convey the property into Mountainwest Properties and construction was about to begin on the Medical Center when HCU filed a document entitled "Notice of Lis Pendens" in the office of the Davis County Recorder on March 2, 2000 (the "Lis Pendens"). (R. at 504-508) (A copy of the Lis Pendens is included in the Addendum as Tab B.) The Lis

Pendens was recorded in spite of the fact that HCU had no claims impacting title or right to possession of the property. The Lis Pendens was discovered by Mountainwest Properties when its lender pulled a final title report as it was preparing to fund Mountainwest Properties' construction financing. (R. at 384 and R. at 409.)

It soon became clear that HCU would continue its efforts to interfere with construction of the Medical Center. Following the filing of the Lawsuit and recording of the Lis Pendens, Richard Vincent, a board member of Mountainwest Medical and Mountain West Surgical had a conversation with Lynn Summerhays, a member of Lakeview Hospital's board. (R. at 385-386 and R. at 410.) Mr. Summerhays informed Mr. Vincent that the Lawsuit and Lis Pendens were just the first in a series of actions that HCU intended to take to stop construction of the Medical Center. He told Mr. Vincent that HCU would do whatever was necessary tie up the process and delay construction of the Medical Center at the SDCH location. (R. at 385-386 and R. at 410.) A copy of the Affidavit of Richard Vincent is included in the Addendum as Tab C.

On June 28, 2001, the Court in the underlying Lawsuit dismissed three of HCU's four claims on summary judgment. (R. at 386.) It also ruled that the Lis Pendens was a wrongful lien pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §38-9-1(6). Specifically, the Court found that the Lis Pendens was a wrongful lien because it was not authorized by statute.

The plain wording of Utah Code Annotated §§78-40-1 and 2 requires that the action has to affect title to and /or the right to possession of land. HCU has not alleged any right to title to any of the parcels described in their lis pendens. Neither has HCU alleged any right to possession of these said parcels.

(R. at 394-404.) A copy of Judge Allphin's Ruling is included in the Addendum as Tab D?  
X After the joint venture deteriorated, HCU settled the remaining claim in the lawsuit by paying SDCH an undisclosed sum.

The Lawsuit and notice of Lis Pendens served their purpose, and effectively stopped the project. The lender withdrew its commitment for construction financing and SDCH withdrew from the joint venture and did not convey the property to Mountainwest Properties. (R. at 384 and R. at 409.) Mountainwest Properties ultimately built the Medical Center at an alternate location after substantial delays and after incurring significant additional costs.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT INCORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT THE LIS PENDENS FILED BY HCU CANNOT FORM THE BASIS FOR AN ABUSE OF PROCESS CLAIM AS A MATTER OF LAW.**

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment regarding Mountain West's abuse of process claim. Mountain West argued that HCU's filing of the lis pendens was an abuse of process of as a matter of law. HCU argued that Mountain West could not factually prove the elements of an abuse process claim. After oral argument, the trial court concluded that the Lis Pendens cannot form the basis of an abuse of process claim, granted HCU's motion and denied Mountain West's motion.

### **A. Factual Basis for Mountain West's Abuse of Process Claim**

The material facts before the trial court were largely undisputed. Two months after HCU filed the Lawsuit, Mountainwest Properties had obtained a final commitment from its construction lender, SDCH was prepared to convey its property to the joint venture and Mountainwest Properties and was prepared to begin construction. Then HCU filed a Lis Pendens that it admits was not supported by a claim to title or possession. The Lis Pendens effectively stopped everything. The lender discovered the Lis Pendens and withdrew its commitment for construction financing and SDCH withdrew its commitment to convey the property.

Any remaining hope was killed when Lynn Summerhays, a member of Lakeview Hospital's board told Richard Vincent that the Lawsuit and Lis Pendens were just the first in a series of actions that HCU intended to take to stop construction of the Medical Center. Mr. Summerhays stated that HCU would do whatever was necessary tie up the process and delay construction of the Medical Center at the SDCH location.

### **B. Argument**

In *Anderson Development Co. v. Tobias*, 2005 UT 36, 116 P. 3d 323, this Court explained that to establish a claim for abuse of process,

a claimant must demonstrate first, an ulterior motive [and] second, an act in the use of the process not proper in the regular prosecution of the proceedings. Unlike a plaintiff asserting a claim for wrongful use of civil proceedings, a plaintiff in an abuse of process claim is not required to establish that the prior proceeding terminated in his favor or that the proceeding lacked probable cause.

*Id.* at ¶37 (emphasis added).

In other words, abuse of process “is not the wrongful procurement of legal process or the wrongful initiation of criminal or civil proceedings; it is the misuse of process, no matter how properly obtained, for any purpose other than that which it was designed to accomplish.” *Restatement (Second) of Torts*, § 682 cmt. a.

Based on the undisputed facts in the record, this Court must conclude that the recording of the Lis Pendens violated the two part test found in *Anderson Development*.

### 1. Improper Use of Process

In *Hatch v. Davis*, 24 Ut. App. 378, 102 P.3d 744 the Utah Court of Appeals explained that to establish an improper use of the process, a litigant must establish:

[s]ome act or threat directed to an immediate objective not legitimate in the use of the process; *In re Terracor*, No. 81-00599, 1982 Bankr.LEXIS 3251, at 19 (Bankr.N.D. Utah Sept. 27, 1982)(noting that the test for abuse of process is “that there must be ‘a willful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular conduct of the proceeding’ or ‘**some definite act not authorized by the process**’”) (quoting William Prosser, *Law of Torts*, § 121, at 857-858).

*Id.* at ¶14. (emphasis added)

It is undisputed that HCU’s use of the Lis Pendens was not proper in the regular prosecution of a proceeding, and that the Lis Pendens was not authorized by the process in the underlying Lawsuit. This conclusion is supported by the plain language of Utah Code Ann. § 78-40-2, Utah case law, the language of the Lis Pendens itself, and Judge Allphin’s ruling.

Utah law is clear that the filing of a lis pendens is a legal process that is only proper in certain circumstances. Utah Code Ann. § 78-40-2 provides:

In any action affecting the title to, or the right to possession of real property, the plaintiff at the time of filing the complaint or thereafter, and

the defendant at the time of filing his answer when affirmative relief is claimed in such answer, or at any time afterward, may file for record with the recorder of the county in which the property or some part thereof is situated a notice of the pendency of the action...

Simply put, a party may only encumber another's property with a lis pendens if it has filed claims in a lawsuit that impact title to, or right to possession of, real property. In fact, the Utah Court of Appeals has held that if an attorney records a lis pendens, when the underlying claims do not impact title or right to possession, that lis pendens is groundless as a matter of law. *Winters v. Schulman*, 977 P.2d 1218, 1224 (Utah Ct. App 1999).

HCU's claims in the Lawsuit had no bearing on the title to, or possession of, SDCH's property. Rather, all of HCU's claims related to alleged restrictions on the type of business that could be conducted within the Medical Center. Under those circumstances, HCU violated section 78-40-2 when it recorded the Lis Pendens.

The text of the Lis Pendens confirms that HCU intended to misuse the process. Obviously aware of the requirements of section 78-40-2, HCU did not even claim a right to title or possession. Instead, it filed a Lis Pendens that read:

To whom it may concern, please take notice: Hospital Corporation of Utah, dba Lakeview Hospital ("Lakeview"), the above-named plaintiff, has a pending Complaint against the above-named defendant South Davis Community Hospital, Inc. ("South Davis") in the above-entitled Court for injunctive relief against South Davis' proposed **use** of certain real property owned by South Davis...

(R. at 504-507.)

On its face, the Lis Pendens is not even an attempt to comply with section

78-40-2. Therefore, there can be no reasonable argument that the Lis Pendens was filed for its proper purpose: to notify third parties that a claim existed affecting title to or possession of the property. By statute, any other purpose is improper.

Finally, the conclusion that the Lis Pendens was a misuse of the process is confirmed by Judge Allphin's Ruling. As he explained, "[t]he plain wording of Utah Code Annotated §§78-40-1 and 2 requires that the action has to affect title to and/or the right to possession of land. HCU has not alleged any right to title to any of the parcels described in their lis pendens. Neither has HCU alleged any right to possession of these said parcels." Furthermore, "even if HCU had a legitimate property interest, it failed to adequately describe in its Complaint both this interest and the particular parcels for which it had such an interest. Therefore, the Court finds that HCU's Notice of Lis Pendens was improperly filed and thus is a wrongful lien." (R. at 403.)

## 2. Ulterior Motive

There can be no reasonable dispute regarding HCU's motive in filing the Lis Pendens. This Court has consistently held that "the **sole purpose** of recording a lis pendens is to give constructive notice of the pendency of proceedings which may be derogatory to an owner's title or right to possession." *Hidden Meadows Dev. Co. v. Mills*, 590 P.2d 1244, 1248 (Utah 1979) (emphasis added).

It was undisputed that HCU had no claim to title or right to possession. Therefore, it had no legitimate interest to protect by recording the Lis Pendens. If the only proper motive for recording the Lis Pendens was not available to HCU, then its



decision to record the Lis Pendens must have been born of an ulterior motive. Time and again HCU has admitted that motive: to stop construction of the project. (R at 468.)

The timing of the Lis Pendens helps illustrate HCU's ulterior motive. HCU filed its Complaint on January 10, 2000. It did not, however, immediately record the Lis Pendens. Rather, it waited until March 2, 2000, days before SDCH was to convey the property to Mountainwest Properties and Mountainwest Properties was scheduled to close on its construction financing. Combined with the statements of HCU board member Lynn Summerhays, it is clear that the Lis Pendens was a tactical attempt to use the process to disrupt Mountainwest Properties' financing and stop construction.

While Utah courts have not directly addressed the misuse of a lis pendens as the basis for an abuse of process claim, this issue has been addressed by courts in other jurisdictions. For example, in *Saltsrom v. Starke*, 670 P.2d 809, (Co. Ct. App. 1983) the court held that a lis pendens filed to prevent a sale to a third party, when the filing party knew it did not have a valid purchase contract, could serve as the basis for an abuse of process claim. *Id* at 811. Similarly, the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Broadmoor Apartments of Charleston v. Horwitz*, 413 S.E.2d 9, (S.C. 1992) held that by filing an improper lis pendens, there was "ample evidence from which a jury could infer that...Horwitz willfully abused the process, with the ulterior purpose of preventing a sale to third parties in hopes of obtaining financial backing with which to purchase the property at an advantageous price."

Based on the foregoing, Mountain West established the ulterior motive component.

## **II. THE TRIAL ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE IN FAILED TO ESTABLISH AN ULTERIOR MOTIVE OR A WILLFUL ACT.**

The evidence before the trial court regarding HCU's ulterior motive was undisputed. HCU admitted that it had no claim that impacted title or right to possession, and that it recorded a Lis Pendens anyway. (R at 466.) HCU admitted that its motive was to stop construction of the project, a goal it could not accomplish through its claims in the lawsuit. HCU's board member, Lynn Summerhays, stated that the Lawsuit and Lis Pendens were just the first in a series of actions that HCU intended to take to stop construction of the project. (R at 410.)

On the other hand, HCU presented no evidence of any kind regarding its motive. Consequently, the only conclusion the trial court could reach was that HCU had an ulterior motive. This is particularly true, in light of the fact that when reviewing a trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment, the Court views the facts and "all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Hale v. Beckstead*, 2005 UT, 24, ¶2, 116 P.3d 263.

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