2006

Mountain West Surgical Center, L.L.C. and
Mountainwest Medical Properties, L.L.C. v.
Hospital Corporation of Utah dba Lakeview
Hospital, a Utah corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Accordingly, the judicial proceedings privilege operates to immunize the filing of a lis pendens—even an unauthorized one—from liability for abuse of process.

2. Factual infirmities.

Finally, even if Mountainwest could overcome the judicial proceedings privilege, it has nevertheless failed to point to evidence sufficient to satisfy the elements of a claim for abuse of process related to the filing of the Lis Pendens.

a. *HCU had no ulterior purpose in filing the Lis Pendens.*

The first element of an abuse of process claim is demonstrating that the defendant had an ulterior purpose. See Anderson Dev. Co., 2005 UT 36, ¶65, 116 P.3d 323. Mountainwest failed to produce any evidence that HCU had an ulterior purpose in filing the Lis Pendens.

HCU had but one purpose in filing the Lis Pendens: to give notice to prospective purchasers of its pending lawsuit against SDCH. The lawsuit of which the Lis Pendens gave notice was one that expressly sought an injunction preventing SDCH from using the property for purposes not allowed by the agreements. See R. at 418-38. The express purpose of the First Lawsuit was to restrict the use of the property to purposes permitted by the agreements;

the express purpose of the Lis Pendens was to notify prospective purchasers that there was a lawsuit pending in which HCU sought to restrict the use of the property in question to purposes permitted by the agreements. This was the only purpose of the First Lawsuit and the Lis Pendens, and Mountainwest does not even argue that there was any other purpose.

In many cases, including the ones cited by Mountainwest, the filers of a lis pendens ***do*** have an ulterior purpose. In both cases cited by Mountainwest, the “ulterior” purpose of the filing of the lis pendens was to extort or pressure the seller of a parcel of property to sell the property to the filer at a reduced price. See Salstrom, 670 P.2d at 811 (stating that “the jury could infer” that “the purpose to be served by filing [the lis pendens] was to prevent a sale to any other party and to coerce [the seller] to consider Salstrom’s previous offers” to purchase the property); Broadmoor, 413 S.E.2d at 12 (stating that the filer had an “ulterior purpose of preventing a sale to third parties in hopes of obtaining financial backing with which to purchase the property at an advantageous price”). In this case, by contrast, HCU had no such “ulterior” purpose in filing the Lis Pendens—HCU had no interest in purchasing the property from SDCH at a lower price, and was not trying to use the Lis Pendens as leverage to force such a sale. Rather, HCU was simply trying to stop SDCH from putting the property to uses that HCU felt violated the 1989 conveyances. There was only one purpose; there was no “ulterior” purpose.

Unable even to postulate about any ulterior purposes, Mountainwest argues that HCU’s primary purpose must have been “ulterior” because the Lis Pendens was illegitimately filed. See Aplt. Br., at 11-12 (stating that “[i]f the only proper motive for recording the Lis Pendens was not available to HCU, then its decision to record the Lis

Pendens must have been born of an ulterior motive”). This semantic argument cannot withstand scrutiny. The word “ulterior” means that which is “beyond what is manifest, seen, or avowed” and is something “intentionally kept concealed.” See Black’s Law Dictionary, 6th ed., at 1522. HCU did not conceal its purpose; indeed, HCU’s purpose was expressly stated from the outset of the filing of the First Lawsuit, and also was expressly stated right on the face of the Lis Pendens itself:

[HCU], the above-named plaintiff, has a pending Complaint against the above-named defendant [SDCH] in the above-entitled Court for injunctive relief against [SDCH’s] proposed use of certain real property owned by [SDCH].

See Lis Pendens (R. at 242).

In the end, HCU had only one purpose, and that purpose was expressly broadcast for all to see in the bright light of day. HCU had no “ulterior” purpose in filing the Lis Pendens, and for this reason Mountainwest’s claim for abuse of process fails for lack of evidence.

b. *The filing of the Lis Pendens did not constitute a wilful act that was not proper in the regular course of the proceedings.*

The second element of an abuse of process claim is demonstrating that HCU committed a wilful act in the use of the process not proper in the regular prosecution of the proceedings. See Hatch, 2006 UT 44, ¶36, – P.3d —. Mountainwest has not produced any evidence in support of this element either.

Mountainwest argues that the filing of the Lis Pendens was an act not proper in the regular course of the proceedings for purposes of an abuse of process claim, because the Lis Pendens did not implicate title, or right of possession of, the property in question. See Aplt. Br., at 9-10. But Mountainwest overlooks the fact that “the filing of a notice of lis pendens

does not constitute process for the purpose of an abuse of process claim.” See Hodel, 836 F.2d at 1247 (citing Woodcourt II, 119 Cal. App. 3d at 249, 251). The California Court of Appeal stated as follows in reaching its conclusion in Woodcourt II:

[R]ecording notice of pending action does not constitute process in the sense that “abuse of process” is used. Process is a means whereby a court compels a compliance with its demands. Thus, the essence of the tort “abuse of process” lies in the misuse of the power of the court; it is an act done in the name of the court and under its authority for the purpose of perpetrating an injustice. Since defendant took no action pursuant to authority of court, directly or by ancillary proceedings, no judicial process was abused.

See Woodcourt II, 119 Cal. App. 3d at 251-52. The filing of a lis pendens is not a summons or a subpoena whereunder the filer/user is drawing on the processes of the court to compel a third party to perform a certain action. The filing of a lis pendens is simply a notice that restates the fact of the pending lawsuit, and is not “process.” Several other states have followed California’s approach. See, e.g., Podolsky v. Alma Energy Corp., 143 F.3d 364, 372 (7th Cir. 1998) (applying Illinois law, and stating that “the lis pendens filing in this case did not involve the misuse of the process of the court,” and affirming dismissal of an abuse of process claim); Hodel, 836 F.2d at 1247-48; Gray v. Kohlhase, 502 P.2d 169 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1972) (holding that the filing of a lis pendens does not constitute a “process” for the purpose of an abuse of process claim); Bonnie Braes Farms, Inc. v. Robinson, 598 S.W.2d 765 (Ky. Ct. App. 1980) (stating that “[t]he lis pendens is merely a notice required by statute to protect the interests of any subsequent purchasers” and “[i]t is filed without intervention of the judicial authority and brings neither the property nor any parties before the court,” and holding that “[s]ince there is no process, there can be no abuse of process”).

Even if HCU’s Lis Pendens can be considered process, Mountainwest has still not

shown that the Lis Pendens was a wilful act not proper in the proceedings. As this Court has stated, in order to meet the “wilful act” requirement there must be something in Mountainwest’s allegations “that distinguish[es] [HCU’s] conduct from process that is merely accompanied by spite, ill-will, or any of the other less agreeable human emotions that frequently attach themselves to court papers.” Hatch, 2006 UT 44, ¶38, – P.3d —. The filing of a lis pendens, even if motivated by spite, is by itself not enough to amount to an abuse of process.

Moreover, the Lis Pendens was completely truthful and straightforward. As noted above, the Lis Pendens, on its face, made no claim to title. All it said was that there was a pending lawsuit “for injunctive relief against [SDCH’s] *proposed use* of certain real property owned by [SDCH].” See R. at 242 (emphasis added). As such, the Lis Pendens was completely truthful, and contained an entirely accurate description of the pending lawsuit. Stated another way, the Lis Pendens did not even purport to affect title to the property in question. A completely truthful and accurate document cannot by definition be improper.

Mountainwest claims, however, that this accurate Lis Pendens “effectively stopped everything” and torpedoed the medical facility project. See Aplt. Br., at 8. But this conclusion does not necessarily follow from the filing of the Lis Pendens. A lis pendens that does not even purport to affect title should not affect title. A reasonable title company reviewing HCU’s Lis Pendens ought not be bothered by it, because it did not even purport to affect title. Mountainwest bears the burden of actually proving its claim that the Lis Pendens “effectively stopped everything,” and it has not carried that burden. As noted above, Mountainwest sat idle during the discovery period in this case, and as a result the only evidence it can point to is the belated and untimely affidavit of Richard Vincent, which for

several reasons is insufficient to allow Mountainwest to survive summary judgment.

As an initial matter, and as discussed below in Part III, the Vincent affidavit is inadmissible, because it lacks foundation and because it was untimely submitted. For these reasons alone, the Vincent affidavit should have been stricken, and cannot be used to support Mountainwest's claims.

More specifically, however, Mr. Vincent has no foundation to make claims that "[t]he notice of lis pendens effectively stopped the project." See R. at 409. Mountainwest needs admissible testimony from someone at the lender or at the title company to prove this point. Only those individuals can truly say why the medical facility was "effectively stopped." Anything Mr. Vincent has to say on the issue is hearsay and/or without foundation. Were there other reasons that the financing did not go through? Did a title company refuse to insure title to the property based solely on the Lis Pendens, or was something else going on? Because Mountainwest completely ignored this case during the discovery phase, these facts were never elicited, and Mountainwest has no evidence from anyone competent to testify thereto that the Lis Pendens had anything to do with stopping the project.

Moreover, the Lis Pendens was only robust for 3½ months. It was filed in early March 2000, and by the end of June 2000 SDCH had procured a ruling from Judge Allphin that the Lis Pendens was a "wrongful lien." See R. at 401-03. Surely Mountainwest cannot maintain that a lis pendens that has been adjudicated as a wrongful lien will prevent a title company from insuring title. And Mr. Vincent's affidavit contains no testimony as to the timing of any of this—he does not say whether the lender and title company allegedly made their decision during this 3½-month window or during some other time. Mr. Vincent also

does not even discuss the reasons why the project could not have been resuscitated after the June 2000 ruling from Judge Allphin.¹⁰

All of this nicely points out one important fact that Mountainwest conveniently overlooks: that there exist a myriad of remedies, apart from an abuse of process claim, available to a party allegedly aggrieved by the filing of a lis pendens. First and foremost, there is the remedy that SDCH used in the First Lawsuit—the remedies available under Utah’s wrongful lien statute, Utah Code Ann. § 38-9-1(6). This statute provides an avenue for parties allegedly harmed by a lis pendens or other lien to remove the lien and even recover damages if appropriate. *Id.* SDCH used this statute to obtain a ruling from Judge Allphin that the Lis Pendens was a wrongful lien.

Second, and relatedly, a party can simply file a motion seeking removal of the lien or lis pendens. The litigants in the Bower case sought (and obtained) removal of the allegedly offending lis pendens, see Bower v. Stein Eriksen Lodge Owners’ Ass’n, 16 Fed. Appx. 985 (10th Cir. 2001), and SDCH eventually filed a motion in the First Lawsuit, following Judge Allphin’s “wrongful lien” ruling, asking that the Lis Pendens be removed. This method is simple and effective for getting rid of offending liens and lis pendens.

Alternatively, if the elements are met a party can file a claim for wrongful use of civil

¹⁰ Mountainwest also attached to its filings below an affidavit from SDCH’s Gordon Bennett that had been submitted in the First Lawsuit. In that affidavit, Mr. Bennett avers that Mountainwest “had a commitment for financing which has been suspended by reason of the filing of the Lis Pendens.” See R. at 416. It should go without saying that this affidavit is rank hearsay; Mr. Bennett was not affiliated with the lender or title company, and his speculative musings on the issue of why the financing apparently fell through are inadmissible, and the trial court recognized this. *Id.* at 530, p. 43-44.

proceedings, in cases where the lis pendens gives notice of a “baseless” or “frivolous” lawsuit. See Woodcourt II, 119 Cal. App. 3d at 251 (discussing remedies available to a party who feels aggrieved by a lis pendens, and stating that “a lis pendens may be an element of an action for malicious prosecution in a proper case”).

Despite the availability of these other remedies, Mountainwest did not avail itself of any of them. Rather, Mountainwest, several years later, filed this lawsuit alleging abuse of process and tortious interference. The facts of this case simply do not fit these causes of action, and in any event Mountainwest has done nothing to prove the causes of action. For all of these reasons, the district court was correct to dismiss both of Mountainwest’s causes of action, and the district court’s decision in this regard should be affirmed.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO STRIKE THE AFFIDAVIT OF RICHARD VINCENT

With respect to its treatment of the affidavit of Richard Vincent, however, the district court erred and its determination *not* to strike that affidavit should be reversed.¹¹ The affidavit is inadmissible for two independent reasons.

A. The Affidavit Is Untimely in Light of Mountainwest’s Utter Failure to Respond to Discovery

As noted above, Mountainwest completely failed to provide HCU with initial disclosures listing relevant witnesses, and completely failed to respond to written discovery requests specifically asking for the identity of relevant witnesses. As a result, HCU had no opportunity to depose any of Mountainwest’s witnesses, including Richard Vincent. It was

¹¹ The Court only need reach this issue if it determines that the Vincent affidavit raises a genuine issue of material fact. Depending upon this Court’s resolution of this and other issues pending in this appeal, HCU’s cross-appeal could be mooted.

not until discovery had closed and a summary judgment motion was pending against it that Mountainwest for the first time produced the affidavit of Mr. Vincent. Mountainwest's failure to participate in discovery should bar it from presenting witnesses in this case.

Under such circumstances, the rules plainly contemplate that the noncompliant party may be barred from presenting witnesses. Rule 37(d) states that where a party fails

to serve answers or objections to interrogatories submitted under Rule 33, after proper service of the interrogatories . . . the court in which the action is pending on motion may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others it may take any action authorized under Paragraphs (A), (B), and (C) of Subdivision (b)(2) of this rule.

Subdivision(b)(2) allows district courts to impose any of the sanctions on noncompliant parties in the form of an order refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting him from introducing designated matters in evidence. See Utah R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2) & (d). Applied to this case, it would not be "just" to allow Mountainwest to put forth witnesses when it completely failed to respond to HCU's discovery. On the contrary, the only just result is to strike the Affidavit of Richard Vincent.

Moreover, Rule 37(f) provides additional support. That paragraph provides that where a party fails to disclose a witness, that party "shall not be allowed to use the witness . . . unless the failure to disclose is harmless or the party shows good cause for the failure to disclose." See Utah R. Civ. P. 37(f). Here, there can be question that Mountainwest's failure to respond to HCU's discovery or to identify a single witness was not "harmless." It deprived HCU of any meaningful opportunity to prepare its defense to Mountainwest's allegations. Further, there was no good cause for Mountainwest's failure to respond to discovery during the eight months when discovery was open and HCU's requests were

pending, or for its complete failure to engage in the discovery process.

B. The Affidavit Lacks Proper Foundation

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